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The Spectre of Katanga

During the early 1960s, the World Peace Brigade worked to transform
nationalist movements into peaceful, anticommunist, democratic postco-
lonial states. In this process, the Brigade was just one of many advocacy
organizations in a sphere of unofficial international politics, a sphere in
which corporations also paired with nongovernmental organizations to
provide assistance, funding, and de facto recognition to nationalist claims
across the political spectrum. The political turmoil and international
attention surrounding the United Nations intervention in Congo and the
breakup of its neighboring Central African Federation of Rhodesia and
Nyasaland (1960-1965) made Sub-Saharan Africa the epicenter for this
dynamic of unofficial, transnational advocacy.

Personal connections between nationalists and their advocates fueled
this informal politics. In his 2013 memoir, the Africanist historian Terence
Ranger described a 1958 New Year’s Eve dinner party at Rhodesian
nationalist Paul Mushonga’s house in the suburb of Highfield in
Salisbury, Rhodesia, capturing in freeze-frame this world of individual
advocates and how their roles changed with decolonization. Mushonga’s
guests included George and Eleanor Loft of the Friends Service Committee
in Salisbury, as well as the Observer journalist Cyril Dunn, who would
later attempt but leave incomplete a biography of Brigade leader Reverend
Michael Scott. Since the Quakers were there en famille, Ranger wrote, “the
room seemed to be overflowing with white babies. . .. It was a jovial scene —
everyone except the Quakers drinking beer or spirits out of bottles.””

' Terence Ranger, Writing Revolt: An Engagement with African Nationalism, 1957-1967
(Harare: Weaver Press, 2013), 28.
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Within five years, Ranger had been deported to Dar es Salaam (1963),
where he joined the liberationist intelligentsia in the city; Dunn was
reporting on the lackadaisical judicial standards in Dallas following the
assassination of John F. Kennedy (1963);> Mushonga had died in an
alleged car accident (1962).> George Loft had become vice president of
the African-American Institute in New York City (1963), a
nongovernmental organization that aimed to link the United States with
“the students and leaders of emerging Black African states.”*

The African-American Institute had been founded in 1953 by two
American academics from Historically Black Universities: William Leo
Hansberry of Howard University, and Horace Mann Bond of Lincoln
University, which was the alma mater of both Kwame Nkrumah (first
president of Ghana) and Mburumba Kerina (a Namibian nationalist).
The following year, Allen Dulles, director of the US Central Intelligence
Agency, asked Harold K. Hochschild, head of the American Metal
Climax mining company (AMAX), to chair the board of the Institute.
At its helm for most of the subsequent decade, Hochschild shepherded
chosen African anticolonial nationalist leaders on their trips to
Washington, DC, and steered funds to their projects. AMAX had mining
interests and shares in operations stretching from the province of Katanga
in the southeastern end of Congo-Leopoldville, through the Rhodesias, to
the northern portion of South West Africa. Hochschild had personal
connections with US politicians and with African leaders. He was active
in international Africa advocacy organizations and belonged to a group
of informed and interested individuals who stood at the intersection of
global economic and political investment on the decolonizing
African continent.’

Hochschild and the organizations in which he played leadership roles —
AMAX and the African-American Institute — could serve as character

* Cyril Dunn, “Who Is the Judge to Gripe? Observer, December 8, 1963.

3 Brooks Marmon, “The Controversial Life and Death of Paul Mushonga,” New Frame,

January 29, 2020. Available at www.newframe.com/the-controversial-life-and-death-of-

paul-mushongal/.

Renamed the “Africa-America Institute” in 1997. F. Taylor Ostrander, “HKH as a

Businessman,” in Harold K. Hochschild 1892-1981, ed. Adam Hochschild (Dexter, MI:

Thomson-Shore, 1982), 99. Privately published family memorial book. I am grateful to

Jennifer Hochschild for sharing this book with me.

5 James Ferguson, Global Shadows: Africa in the Neoliberal World Order (Durham, NC:
Duke University Press, 2006), 4—16, provides an overview of scholarship on the political
economy (and choice of that term) of colonial to postcolonial Africa. For discussion of
AMAX’ interests in Katanga, see Introduction, footnote 53.
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references for, and implicit or even explicit supporters of, particular
anticolonial nationalists, especially Kenneth Kaunda of Zambia and the
Namibian nationalists who made up the South West African People’s
Organization (SWAPQO), among others. Nationalists petitioned AMAX
and the Institute for financial support at the same time, often on the same
trip to New York, that they petitioned the United Nations for political
recognition; Hochschild and Adlai Stevenson, the US ambassador to the
UN, compared notes.® Individuals such as Hochschild and organizations
such as the African-American Institute and the World Peace Brigade
operated in a sphere of politics whose inhabitants did not officially
represent a government but who dealt with the business of government —
that is, with issues of representation, sovereignty, and independence — for
regions of the world that were struggling for independence, that is,
for states-in-waiting.

It may seem counterintuitive for a mining company with operations in
regions controlled by colonial or settler-colonial regimes to choose to
support anticolonial nationalist aspirations. However, in 1962 AMAX
chose to back certain anticolonial nationalists in Southern Africa.” It did
so in direct response to the international blowback that its competitor,
Union Miniére, received for backing the secessionist Congolese province
of Katanga. Katanga hovered over the imagination of advocates and
nationalists as the ultimate example of illegitimate nationalism — the
potential of failed national liberation — in which Western imperial
interests had co-opted a state-in-waiting and violated postcolonial state
sovereignty, in this case, that of Congo-Leopoldville, newly independent
from Belgium.

KATANGA’S SECESSION FROM CONGO

On July 30, 1960, Belgium acceded to the demands for independence
made by nationalists in its colony of Belgian Congo, and the State of
Congo-Leopoldville was born.® Belgium came to this decision, in the

=N

Harold Hochschild to Adlai Stevenson, December 12, 1963, in Hochschild, Harold
K. Hochschild, 79.

“Evolution of the Recent Attacks on Mining Companies Operating in Southern Africa,”
AMAX unauthored report, December 1962, Box 25, Winifred Armstrong Papers, Hoover
Institution (hereafter “WA Hoover Papers”). Armstrong started working at AMAX in
1965, so she herself did not write or have any input into this report.

There was also a neighboring colony of French Congo, which became independent Congo-
Brazzaville (or the Republic of the Congo) in April 1960.

~
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words of Michel Struelens of Belgium’s Bureau of Tourism in Congo (and
eventual representative in New York of the breakaway Congolese
Republic of Katanga), because of “sheer funk — obsession with the
Algerian war — and a rather Machiavellian calculation” that it could
better maintain its Congolese investments in an independent Congo.’
Thirteen days later, the mineral-rich Katanga province in southeastern
Congo seceded from newly independent Congo, launching the events
known as “the Congo Crisis.” In response, Patrice Lumumba, the demo-
cratically elected leader of Congo-Leopoldville, asked the United Nations
to intervene militarily to prevent Katanga’s secession. Katanga’s secession
was eventually suppressed during a five-year period of warfare and UN
intervention.”® During this period, the spectre of Katanga — that is, of
anticolonial nationalism allegedly hijacked by a nationalist regime defined
by its connections to the West and its anticommunist credentials — hung
over nationalist aspirants and their advocates. Some, such as the Brigade
community, opposed Katanga as neocolonialist. Others, who also backed
white-settler rule in South Africa and Rhodesia, supported it and blamed
the US and its European allies for failing to adequately sustain one of their
anticommunist, postcolonial nationalist allies in the decolonizing world.""

Katanga’s secession and its failure seemed to impose a Cold War
dichotomy on the process of decolonization: a dichotomy between
communist- and anticommunist-sympathizing organizations, movements,
and governments. While this binary shaped how nationalists made and
mobilized their claims, it often did not reflect the political aims, orienta-
tions, or experiences of many people and organizations operating outside
and around spheres of government. For instance, a corporation such as
AMAX, working in tandem with the African-American Institute, was
connected to circles of international civil society activism as well as to
national governments. Positioned to navigate between these shifting pol-
itical categories, it negotiated with and funded education and training
programs for new postcolonial elites as well as anticolonial nationalist
exiles — who, they wagered, might be the new national elite once their

? Michel Streulens, La Reléve, August 27, 1960.

*© Lise Namikas, Battleground Africa: Cold War in the Congo, 1960-1965 (Palo Alto, CA:
Stanford University Press, 2013). For an examination of the colonial period and the
different Congolese independence movements, see Isidore Nadaywel ¢ Nziem, Histoire
générale du Congo: De I'héritage ancien a la République Démocratique (Brussels:
De Boeck & Larcier, 1998).

't Josiah Brownell, Struggles for Self-Determination: The Denial of Reactionary Statehood
in Africa (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2021).
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territories became independent. The company had up-to-date information
about the decolonizing world, including peoples and places far outside the
knowledge of most in the West (including in governments), and access to
power. It chose to work behind the scenes, through personal connections
and affiliated organizations, supporting certain anticolonial nationalists.

In the early 1960s, the United Nations sought to be the global arbitra-
tor for issues of national sovereignty and independence. The Congo
Crisis, and the UN’s attempt to prevent Katanga’s secession, was to be
its test run."* Both the leadership of the UN, which included Secretary
General Dag Hammarskjold and his brain trust of the “Congo Toilers” —
Ralph Bunche, Andrew Cordier, Indar Jit Rikhye, Alexander
MacFarquhar, and Francis Nwokedi, among others™> — and their critics
were highly conscious of how the UN’s legacy would be shaped by the
organization’s intervention."#

Ralph Bunche arrived in Congo for its independence festivities and
stayed through late August 1960. By the end, he was drained and sleep
deprived, fearing that his presence portrayed the Congo intervention as a
US Cold War endeavor rather than a UN intervention."* Bunche fell out
with Lumumba, who asked the Soviets for material support when UN
forces would not take up arms to prevent the secession of Katanga.
For Bunche, assisting Congo was “like trying to give first aid to a
wounded rattlesnake.”"® Andrew Cordier was interim UN representative

** Alanna O’Malley, The Diplomacy of Decolonisation: America, Britain and the United
Nations during the Congo Crisis 1960-1964 (Manchester: Manchester University
Press, 2018).

“Congo Toilers” is a term used by Cordier in his correspondence. For example, Cordier
to Bunche, acceptance of Invitation, December 30, 1960, Box 104, Cordier Papers,
Columbia University. This group included the Americans Ralph Bunche (UN mediator
for Palestine, innovator behind the concept of UN Trust Territories, and undersecretary
general for the UN); Andrew Cordier (original chief negotiator for the UN in Congo,
undersecretary for the UN General Assembly, and also Hammarskjold’s conduit to the
US government); Hammarskjold’s Africa expert, Heinze Wieschhoff, an Austrian
naturalized-US citizen and anthropologist who had last visited the Congo in the 1920s;
Indians C. V. Narasimhan, a career UN civil servant, later a special representative to the
Congo, and Major General I. J. Rikhye, who wrote the military manual used by the UN
mission; Frances Nwokedi (the first Nigerian UN permanent secretary) and Robert
Gardiner (founder of the Ghanaian civil service, later a special representative to
Congo), who both handled Congolese civilian development and economist Alexander
MacFarquhar, a Scot who spent his career in the British Indian civil service, was secretary
of commerce for the newly independent Pakistan and eventually a UN undersecretary.
' Brian Urquhart, Hammarskjold (New York: W. W. Norton, 1994 [1972]), 400.

'S Urquhart, Ralph Bunche: An American Life (New York: W. W. Norton, 1993), 322.

¢ Urquhart, Ralph Bunche, 322.
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to Congo when Lumumba’s government split apart in September 1960
and Lumumba was murdered in January 1961. Cordier had allowed
Lumumba to leave UN protection, and closed airports and the radio to
calm violence — or to prevent Lumumba from mustering political support,
or both, depending upon interpretation.'”” Lumumba’s death and
Cordier’s perceived role catalyzed the February 1961 UN Security
Council Resolution that changed its use of force doctrine from “no-
initiative on the use of force” to “self-defense” of UN forces, galvanizing
the institution to actively prevent Katanga’s secession.

Katanga - led by Moise Tshombe, a missionary-educated business-
man from the Lunda people, an ethnic group in Katanga and Northern
Rhodesia — had the financial backing of the Belgian multinational mining
company Union Miniére and the support of the Belgian government,
while the UN supported a united Congo. Although the January
1961 assassination of Congolese president Lumumba in Katanga gave
the United Nations the political will to use military force to halt the
secession, it was still tough political and military terrain for the organiza-
tion. The settler-colonial government of the Rhodesias and Nyasaland
allied with Tshombe’s regime and provided a haven for Tshombe’s
mercenaries (who returned to Katanga through an unregulated border
after UN forces expelled them)."® Faced with UN occupation, Tshombe
called the UN forces “Communist troops” assisted by foreign powers"
and launched an international publicity campaign in the Belgian, British,
and US newspapers, designed to present Katanga as a “prosperous,
peaceful, pro-western state in the process of being destroyed by a
communist-oriented United Nations.”*°

'7 Belgian agents killed Lumumba while he was in Katangese custody. Release of Belgian
and US records in 2002 show that while the CIA very much wanted to oust Lumumba, it
was probably not directly involved; see Ludo de Witte, The Assassination of Lumumba
(London: Verso, 2002). De Witte is quite disparaging of the US and the UN but sees no
planned collusion. The specifics of Cordier’s role in January—February 1961 are murky,
as is Cordier’s general role at the UN as Hammarskjold’s number two, with close ties to
the US government. Cordier has often been described, even if obliquely, as a CIA plant at
the UN, including in Mark Mazower, Governing the World: The History of an Idea,
1815 to the Present (New York: Penguin Press, 2012), 268.

George Ivan Smith to David Owen, “Report on Nyasaland and Rhodesia,” p. 5, June 1,
1962, Box 125, Cordier Papers.

" Quoted in Edgar O’Ballance, The Congo-Zaire Experience, 1960-1998 (New York: St.
Martin’s Press, 2000), 47.

Caroline Hoskyns, The Congo since Independence, January 1960-1961 (Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 1965), 411. Examples of articles in Libre Belgique (August 31, 1961)
and the Daily Telegraph (August 30, 1961). F. Edward Griffen’s film Katanga: The
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Tshombe sent Michel Streulens (a graduate student at American
University in Washington, DC, and formerly of the Belgian Congo
Bureau of Tourism) as his designated ambassador to the United Nations
in New York. UN leadership denied him an audience — which they could
easily do, since he did not represent a UN member-state.** Streulens
teamed up with the American Committee for Aid to Katangese Freedom
Fighters (hereafter, Americans for Katangese Freedom) to stir up US
support for Tshombe. Americans for Katangese Freedom — run by US
congressman Walter Judd (R-MN) and African American political activist
Max Yergan (former missionaries to China and South Africa, respect-
ively), along with the public relations specialist Marvin Liebman - was
one of many American advocacy organizations that supported
anticommunist movements in China, Tibet, Katanga, the Rhodesias,
and elsewhere, as well as apartheid rule in South Africa.** There was a
slew of such organizations, with rotating names but the same anticom-
munist political platform and the same set of individuals involved. The
Americans for Katangese Freedom explicitly linked the Congo Crisis to
the Cold War — as shown in a typical comment from an organizational
pamphlet: “Do not let the people of Katanga go the same way as the
gallant people of Hungary, China, and Tibet who were betrayed into
Communist slavery by the fault of free nations and their peoples.”*?* They

Untold Story of UN Betrayal (1962), is also a piece of this publicity campaign.
In addition, Katanga sponsored trips for US congressmen and senators to the region.
“Mr. Streulens sounds like a very brash young man and we’ll probably be hearing a lot
more from him.” Andrew Cordier to Leo Malania, September 19, 1960, Box 161,
Cordier Papers. Struelens wrote a scholarly account of the UN intervention in Congo,
Michel Struelens, The United Nations in the Congo or O.N.U.C. and International
Politics (Brussels: Max Arnold, 1976).

The network of African American advocates for apartheid South Africa deserves explor-
ation. Yergan’s biography - David Henry Anthony, Max Yergan: Race Man,
Internationalist, Cold Warrior (New York: New York University Press, 2006) — spends
a chapter on his political shift rightward but does not mention his friendship and work
with Jay A. Parker, the African American conservative intellectual, lobbyist for Southern
African bantustans, and fellow member of the African American Affairs Association
advocacy organization. Parker’s influence stretches further in African American conserva-
tive thought, as he is invoked in the few public speeches of US Supreme Court justice
Clarence Thomas and was described by Thomas’s wife, Ginni, as “a lifelong friend,
mentor, encourager and father figure” for Clarence; Ginny Montalbano, “The
Conservative Legacy of Jay A. Parker,” Daily Signal, February 27, 2019. Available
at www.dailysignal.com/2019/02/27/the-conservative-legacy-of-jay-a-parker/.

Americans for Katangese Freedom pamphlet, July 20, 1962, Box 43, Marvin Liebman
Papers, Hoover Institution.

2
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worked with sympathetic US politicians, placing Katanga in the context
of other nationalist insurgent movements.

The United Nations also considered Katanga part of a global network —
of counterrevolutionary forces with wider ambitions on the decolonizing
African continent. UN leadership believed that Tshombe’s Katangese
mercenaries had “links with the OAS [Organisation de I'armée secrete,
a pro-French Algeria terrorist organization] ... if they help Tshombe to a
victory at Elisabethville [Katanga’s capital], they might find extreme
European interests in these areas which would support them and bring
an industrial [i.e., supported by mining companies] potential in behind
them.”** The UN special representative to Katanga, Conor Cruise
O’Brien, was an outspoken champion of anticolonial nationalism, as well
as a close friend and colleague of World Peace Brigade members. O’Brien
arrived in Katanga and attempted to expel Tshombe’s European mercen-
aries as the embodiment of outside interference in Congolese affairs. This
was a difficult task since the settler-colonial government of the Central
African Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland, allied with Tshombe’s
regime, provided a haven for expelled mercenaries who would then return
through the unregulated border. Tshombe himself was involved “pretty
heavily in Rhodesian party politics, and not in support to the African
majority parties,” such as Kenneth Kaunda’s United National
Independence Party in Northern Rhodesia.*’

Kaunda, a Northern Rhodesian nationalist, presented himself in inter-
national media as a Westernized, Christian, neo-Gandhian leader of a state-
in-waiting. Similarly, Tshombe’s credentials as Western-educated and
Christian were a repeated refrain for Americans for Katangese Freedom.
They used Union Miniére’s support of Tshombe to demonstrate that he was
pro-business and anticommunist, simultaneously complaining that other
Western corporations — namely, AMAX — were aligning with African antic-
olonial nationalists, “licking the boots of Kaunda.”*® Americans for
Katangese Freedom also made an illuminating slippage in its materials,
using “arms” instead of “aid” to Katanga in a fundraising letter.*”

In some ways, Katanga served as Northern Rhodesia/Zambia’s distorted
mirror. The two countries shared geography, geology, and some degree of

** George Ivan Smith to David Owen, “Report on Nyasaland and Rhodesia,” p. 5.

*5 “Report on Nyasaland and Rhodesia,” p. 7.

Ruth Alexander, Mirror, October 21, 1962, Box 43, Marvin Liebman Papers.

*7 Charles Willoughby to Max Yergan, December 30, 1961, Box 43, Marvin
Liebman Papers.
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ethnicity. Both Kaunda and Tshombe were missionary-educated and they
were expert at the portrayal of respectable nationalist leadership for inter-
national audiences. They each chose and were chosen by a different mining
company and a different advocacy network: Kaunda, AMAX, and the
World Peace Brigade; Tshombe, Union Miniére, and Americans for
Katangese Freedom. Yet Kaunda was able to make his advocates depend
on him, while Tshombe remained dependent on his advocates.

The United Nations justified its opposition to Tshombe’s regime
because the institution feared the territorial unraveling of new postcolo-
nial states.>® Postcolonial state sovereignty was a delicate entity whose
fragility threatened to undermine the UN’s legitimacy as the guarantor of
that sovereignty. From the international institutional perspective, decol-
onization could go only so far, and no further, before it dissolved into
chaos. Ralph Bunche, a much-respected UN mediator, worried that
“sub”-national sovereign claims would destroy the tenuous stability of
postcolonial nation-states.*® In addition, the UN did not consider that
Katanga’s government represented a legitimately nationalist African
movement but, rather, saw it as a front for Western and settler-colonial
interests. There was significant evidence for this perception, beyond the
efforts of Americans for Katangese Freedom: the French military initially
acquiesced to the recruitment of some of its officers to Tshombe’s
mercenary forces;>® Tshombe and Roy Welensky (prime minister of the
Central African Federation) supported each other; Union Miniére and
other regional multinational mining companies, such as Tanganyika
Concessions (in which AMAX also invested), shared shareholders.?*
O’Brien noted that Katanga’s Declaration of Independence (July 1960)
had explicitly “ask[ed] Belgium to join with Katanga in a close economic
community. It ask[ed] Belgium to continue its technical, financial and
military aid. It ask[ed] Belgium to re-establish order and security.”3*

>

*8 Ryan Irwin, “Sovereignty in the Congo Crisis,” in Decolonization and the Cold War:
Negotiating Independence, ed. Elisabeth Leake and Leslie James (London: Bloomsbury,
2015), 203-18.

* Charles P. Henry, ed., Ralph |. Bunche: Selected Speeches and Writings (Ann Arbor:
University of Michigan Press, 1996), 189.

3° Robert Trinquier, Jacques Duchemin, and Jacques Le Bailly, Notre guerre au Katanga
(Paris: Editions de la pensée moderne, 1963), 53—77.

3% Terry McNamara interview, Foreign Affairs Oral History Project. Conducted by Charles
Stuart Kennedy, March 18, 1993. Library of Congress, American Memory Collections.
Also, “Report on Nyasaland and Rhodesia.”

3* Conor Cruise O’Brien, To Katanga and Back: A UN Case History (New York: Simon
and Schuster, 1963), 85.
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This “declaration of dependence” deserves further interrogation. In the
1960s, the United Nations saw a rapid expansion of its membership.
It recognized many new postcolonial states and signified their sovereignty
by granting them seats in the UN General Assembly. In the process, the
UN came to have a vested interest in the importance of international-legal
sovereignty as a defining feature of national sovereignty since it priori-
tized the importance of the UN institution as its source.??

Tshombe’s Katanga proposed an alternative model — one of possible
confederation — and this threatened the UN’s conception of postcolonial
statehood. According to Bunche, Tshombe showed an “unhealthy inter-
est” in the United States’ Articles of Confederation as a possible model for
a prospective Congolese federation: Tshombe “seemed only to be encour-
aged when [informed] that the [Articles] had failed to work” — eluding to
the Katangese leader’s lack of interest in supporting a unified, independ-
ent Congo.>* The colonial boundaries of Congo, like most colonial
boundaries, did not consider cross-border or regional affiliations.
Katanga’s minister of finance told the New York Times that Katanga
shared more commonalities with Northern Rhodesia than with the rest of
Congo.>> At issue were questions of national or ethnic authenticity,
regional autonomy, and international backing that could either support
or undermine perceived national legitimacy. Tshombe claimed a “tribal”
affiliation for Katanga, to counter the idea of a Congolese nation.>® This
affiliation evoked the colonial “empowerment” of the tribe as a political
unit in order to undermine the potential of national independence. At the
same time, it attempted to demonstrate regional and ethnic precolonial
authenticity in contrast to a national, Léopoldville-based government that
had inherited colonial territorial boundaries.?”

To prevent Katanga’s secession, UN military forces occupied key pos-
itions in the region, at Elizabethville and Jadotville, taking and receiving

33 Stephen D. Krasner, “The Hole in the Whole: Sovereignty, Shared Sovereignty, and

International Law,” Michigan Journal of International Law 25, no. 4
(2004): T075-101.

34 Urquhart, Hammarskjéld, 392. Tshombe also invoked the Battle of Bunker Hill in his
propaganda films.

35 David Halberstam, New York Times, June 13, 1962.

3¢ Tshombe’s political party was the Confédération des Associations Tribales du Katanga,
in contrast to Lumumba’s Mouvement National Congolais—Lumumba.

37 Miles Larmer and Eric Kennes, “Rethinking the Katangese Secession,” Journal of
Imperial and Commonwealth History 42, no. 4 (2014): 741—6T.
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casualties.’® UN secretary general Hammarskjold flew in to handle the
peace talks with a disempowered Tshombe, but he died in a
September 1961 plane crash before negotiating a ceasefire agreement.?®
Hammarskjold’s death and the end of Katanga’s secession concluded the
first phase of the UN intervention in Congo. Its official intervention in
Congo ended in 1965, after the subsequent suppression of Congolese
liberationist militias that led to a coup by (and consolidation of power
under) Joseph Mobutu Sese Seko.*° In the decades since, intermittent war
and violence (and subsequent UN interventions) have continued. For
anticolonial nationalists and their international advocates, the “spectre of
Katanga” remained as a warning of what could happen if decolonization
“went wrong.”

THE KENNEDY TEAM AND DECOLONIZATION

The Congo Crisis and the secession of Katanga from Congo drew
Western attention to Central and Southern Africa, a region previously
considered peripheral to Great Power politics, even when it had been
central to imperialism and global war. The US government did not have
a State Department office on African issues until 1958; instead, it
“worked directly with the colonials.”#* Sensing a political opportunity
in this vacuum of information and strategic thinking, then Senator John
F. Kennedy, chair of the newly formed US Senate Foreign Relations
Subcommittee on African Affairs, sought out Americans with recent
experience and expertise on matters pertaining to that continent.
As part of this exploration, in 1958 JFK’s team hired Winifred
Armstrong as an unofficial consultant for their staff.

38 It is unclear if these military operations had Hammarskjold’s direct permission. O’Brien

said they did, in his To Katanga and Back, 283. However, this statement is unconfirmed
outside of O’Brien’s account, and Hammarskjold died before he could verify it.

For detailed accounts of the run-up to Hammarskjold’s death and various theories
involved, see Arthur Gavshon, The Mysterious Death of Dag Hammarskjold (New
York: Walker Publishing, 1962); Susan Williams, Who Killed Hammarskjold: The UN,
the Cold War and White Supremacy in Africa (London: Hurst & Company, 2011); Ravi
Somaiya, The Golden Thread: The Cold War Mystery Surrounding the Death of Dag
Hammarskjold (New York: Grand Central Publishing, 2021).

4° Ludo de Witte, “The Suppression of the Congo Rebellions and the Rise of Mobutu,
1963-1965,” International History Review 39, no. 1 (2017): 107-25.

Winifred Armstrong, recorded interview by Stephen Plotkin, July 8, 2008, p. 4. John
F. Kennedy Library, Boston (hereafter, “JFKL”).
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Armstrong graduated from Swarthmore College in 1951 and traveled
to the African continent five years later. After meeting with and receiving
briefings and contacts from Western advocates in Paris, Brussels, and
London, Armstrong purchased a round-trip plane ticket to Cape Town
that allowed her to stop along the way up and down each coast. Over a
period of two years, she traveled to an array of countries/colonies: Ghana,
Togo(land), Dahomey (now Benin), Nigeria, (Belgian) Congo, South
Africa, the Rhodesias (now Zambia and Zimbabwe), Tanganyika (now
Tanzania), Kenya, Uganda, Sudan, and Egypt. She “visited and stayed
with African and European families, at universities, schools, hospitals,
and missions; and met political and educational leaders, [and those]
concerned with community development, business and industry, religion,
and labor.”#* By the time Armstrong returned to the United States in
1958, she had established friendships and connections with particular
nationalist leaders in much of Southern Africa. She also had more recent
experience on the continent than almost anyone else in the United States.
Kennedy recruited Armstrong to work unofficially for his Senate office —
and then to his presidential campaign — for her African connections,
knowledge, and experience. An initial six-week job turned into nearly
two years of work.*?

While working for Kennedy’s 1960 presidential campaign and transi-
tion team, Armstrong pushed the US to take a more nuanced and serious
approach to national liberation in Africa. She argued that US foreign
relations strategy needed to disaggregate binaries of “African versus
European and colonial versus anticolonial interests” to find a “meaning-
ful balance” in the formulation of policy. Most importantly, she believed
that the US needed to “down-grade the importance of scoring Cold War
points” in order to take “the initiative in formulating or at least actively
supporting political, economic, and social proposals” for new nations on
the decolonizing African continent.** In 1960, when seventeen African
countries became independent, Armstrong sent telegrams of congratu-
lations from Kennedy to many new nationalist leaders. Nobody else in
Washington was reaching out in this manner; and for their recipients,

4* Armstrong CV, Correspondence 1960 File, Box 2, Winifred Armstrong Papers, JFKL.

43 Winifred Armstrong interview with author, February 4, 2018.

44 Winifred Armstrong, “Issues at the UN of Particular Concern to African States:
Conclusions and Further Recommendations,” December 1960, Position Paper, p. 19.
Armstrong Papers, JFKL.
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these “telegrams of recognition” strongly signaled Kennedy’s interest in
and support of African liberation.*’

Armstrong shared a degree of friendship with particular African
anticolonial nationalists. She was part of a sphere of international support
on behalf of anticolonial nationalists; a sphere that included the World
Peace Brigade community as well as individuals associated with A. J.
Muste’s Fellowship of Reconciliation and Reverend Michael Scott’s
Africa Bureau.*® Subsequently, she tried to assist these advocates when
they traveled to the US to give testimony to the UN on behalf of African
nationalists. She closed a position paper to president-elect Kennedy’s pre-
sumptive UN delegation with an extended plea to ease visa restrictions for
Reverend Scott, “head of the Africa Bureau in London, [who] has been
permitted over the past ten years [of petitioning the UN on behalf of South
West Africa] free movement only in a so-block area of Manhattan.”4”

The Africanist and Angola expert John Marcum also worked with the
Kennedy team on decolonization questions. Together, Armstrong and
Marcum advised Kennedy’s presidential campaign on African issues.
Armstrong briefed Averell Harriman (a long-time Democratic politician
as well as a foreign policy advisor) before his August 1960 fact-finding
trip to Congo and West Africa, and set up his meetings with local
politicians and dignitaries in those places, while Marcum traveled along
as an escort. Armstrong also briefed Edward M. Kennedy, the president-
elect’s brother, before his 1960 trip with a group of Democratic senators
to Leopoldville and Elizabethville (Katanga’s capital), during Katanga’s
secession.*® Both Harriman’s and Edward Kennedy’s trips served as
recognition of decolonization’s regime changes but were not meant to
bind the United States to a particular policy direction. John F. Kennedy
was running for the presidency; he was not yet the president. Indeed, the
foreign policy of the Kennedy campaign and transition team could be
compared to that of a state-in-waiting — or, more accurately, a regime-in-
waiting. Harriman traveled as a private citizen, and Edward Kennedy,

45 Winifred Armstrong interview with author, December 18, 2020.

4 A. J. Muste (1886-1967) was a US Christian pacifist leader who headed the Quaker-
oriented activist organization Fellowship for Reconciliation, among others; Michael Scott
(1907-1983) was a British anti-apartheid activist who headed the Africa Bureau, a
London-based African advocacy organization. Both were leaders of the World Peace
Brigade (the subject of Chapter 2).

47 Armstrong, “Issues at the UN,” 20.

+ Edward Kennedy was not himself yet a senator; he was elected as the US senator from
Massachusetts in 1962.
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though sent as a proxy for his brother, was viewed as a political light-
weight in Washington, DC, and was under instructions not to say any-
thing that could be construed as outright support from the president-elect,
just to listen.*® However, for African anticolonial nationalists, these
unofficial visits sent strong signals of future US support, and their opti-
mism about this possibility was particularly strengthened after John
F. Kennedy was elected president in November 1960.

Armstrong and Marcum always worked for Kennedy in unofficial
capacities and on short-term contracts. When Kennedy became president,
with an Africa office having been established at the US Department of
State, their political orientation and methods were perceived as less neces-
sary and potentially too complicating for US interests; their African
connections, for which they were originally hired, were too potentially
polarizing for a president. Marcum moved to Lincoln University and
continued to work with the Kennedy administration to create a training
program for African refugees — including leaders of nationalist move-
ments, some of whom were graduates of Lincoln University.

Armstrong shifted to the National Planning Association, an American
civil society research institute. She continued her field research in Sub-
Saharan Africa and co-wrote a report on African private enterprise that
included biographical sketches of African entrepreneurs, highlighting the
importance she placed on individual agency in understanding structural
political and economic questions.’® Following her stint at the National
Planning Association, AMAX hired Armstrong in 1965 for the same
reasons that Kennedy had hired her in 1958: her knowledge of and
connections to Africa’s new nationalist leaders before they had become
heads of state, and her understanding of the political, social, and eco-
nomic circumstances of both new postcolonial states and states-in-
waiting. These skills were of great value for a corporation that sought
to successfully navigate the forces of decolonization and, thereby, con-
tinue to reap profits from the territories involved.

THE DECLARATION ON THE GRANTING OF INDEPENDENCE

In December 1960, at the instigation of the Soviet Union and with the
support of the United States, the UN General Assembly made a

49 Armstrong interview with the author, November 28, 201 §; Armstrong interview with the
author, February 4, 2018.

¢ Theodore Geiger and Winifred Armstrong, The Development of African Private
Enterprise (Washington, DC: National Planning Association, 1964), 138-48.
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“Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and
Peoples.”*" This declaration on the granting of independence illuminated
the idea of the UN as the organ of international recognition for new
postcolonial states, as well as the limits inherent to that proposed role.
By articulating an international norm concerning independence for “colo-
nial countries and peoples,” the declaration was a foundational corner-
stone for nationalist claimants and their international advocates
worldwide, though it did not refer to peoples within postcolonial (or
indeed metropolitan) states. In addition, because the UN set up a com-
mittee to monitor the declaration, “it became a year-round source of
critique of imperial rule” as well as a portal for advocates and nationalists
to access international politics.’* And yet, by affirming the postcolonial
unitary state as the end goal of the decolonization process, the declaration
only supported nationalisms that did not revise the international
boundaries of UN member-states — particularly of postcolonial ones,
which were becoming the majority of the UN General Assembly.

Two years later, in 1962 — during the gathering clouds of Cold War
conflict over Cuba and the continuing UN intervention in Congo — the
UN committee to monitor the declaration, titled the “Special Committee
of 17,” held its annual hearings in Dar es Salaam to assess the declar-
ation’s impact, and the World Peace Brigade submitted a report to them.
The Brigade argued that Western support for Katanga’s secession, motiv-
ated by a desire to continue to extract mineral wealth from that territory,
“made Western democracy look like a giant runaway circus calliope”:
while “pleasant music came from the top” of the carnival steam organ, its
wheels crushed “the people down below.”33

Kenneth Kaunda also personally testified in front of the UN Special
Committee of 17 in Dar es Salaam in 1962. There, the Soviet member,
happy to draw international attention to Western malfeasance in
Southern Africa, asked him which “foreign companies control the copper

5t Also known as the United Nations General Assembly Resolution 1514.

>* Eva-Maria Muschik, “Special Issue Introduction: Towards a Global History of
International Organizations and Decolonization,” Journal of Global History 17, no. 2
(2022): 181.

53 Report cowritten by J. P. Narayan, Bill Sutherland, and Michael Scott, “World Peace
Brigade Submission to the UN Special Committee of 17 on the Situation with Regard to
the Implementation of the Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial
Countries and Peoples,” 1962, p. 3, File 442, J. P. Narayan Papers, Nehru Memorial
Museum and Library.
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mines in Northern Rhodesia and what links there might be between these
companies and the companies which were engaged in similar activities in
neighboring Katanga.”>* Kaunda did not answer the question directly.
Instead, he cited an article that Michael Scott of the World Peace Brigade
used later that year (in his own testimony to the same committee) to
describe the interlocking directorships of mining companies in the
Southern African Copperbelt, drawing upon the scholarship of
anthropologist Alvin Wolfe.>’

A few months after Kaunda testified, Michael Scott did so as well to the
same UN Special Committee of 17, in September 1962. He attacked
mining companies in Southern Africa as obstacles to Western support
for national self-determination because of their continuing efforts to
exploit mineral resources in that region. He alleged that (1) Britain
refused to intervene on the issue of white-settler colonial rule in
Southern Rhodesia because of the “powerful vested interest” of mining
companies; (2) the structure of mining interests relied on cheap African
labor and white domination; and (3) the British South Africa Company,
Anglo American, Union Miniére, the Rhodesian Selection Trust,
Tanganyika Concessions, and AMAX - all involved with various
African postcolonial states and states-in-waiting — shared interlocking
and overlapping boards of directors and shareholders.*®

Scott attacked the “autonomous industrial system in Southern Africa
that is beyond the control of African nations,” relying, as Kaunda did, on
Wolfe’s research. AMAX took careful, anxious notice, tracking Scott’s
allegations through UN, US government, and newspaper sources as it put
together a private report to counter Scott’s testimony.’” While Kaunda —
wanting to avoid the perception of too close an alignment with the
Soviets — had reassured AMAX as well as the Rhodesian Selection Trust
mining company privately about his future amenability, AMAX was

Kaunda testimony to Special Committee of 17, April 19, 1962, Lowenstein Papers,
Subseries 2.11, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Wilson Library.

Kaunda testimony to Special Committee of 17, April 24, 1962, Lowenstein Papers,
Subseries 2.r1. The article is: Alvin Wolfe, “The Team Rules Mining in Southern
Africa,” Toward Freedom 11, no. 1 (1962): 1-3.

Special Committee of 17 on the Situation with Regard to the Implementation of the
Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples,
September 7, 1962, verbatim record of the r1o3rd meeting. Allard Kenneth Lowenstein
Papers, Subseries 2.11.

57 F. Taylor Ostrander, “AMAX Internal Memo to Management,” November 26, 1962,
Box 25, Armstrong Hoover Papers.
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horrified by the charges made by Scott.’® It worried about looking like the
Union Miniére of Southern Africa: “[O]nly I.G. Farben during and after
the [Second World] war would compete with Union Miniére’s new public
image” as a Western corporation continuing imperial policy in black-
face.’® AMAX could not dispute the composition of its board, so it began
a multiyear campaign to demonstrate support for anticolonial nationalist
African elites who were becoming the leaders of new postcolonial states
with mines — while it continued to mine in South African-ruled South
West Africa. AMAX wanted to escape being branded “the I. G. Farben of
decolonization,” but without altering its mining operations.

Scott’s financial backers — that is, the board of his advocacy organization,
the Africa Bureau — did not find his “interlocking directorship” comments
amusing, just as they had initially been upset by Kaunda’s testimony. Sir
Ronald Prain of the Rhodesian Selection Trust, a long-time donor and
member of the Africa Bureau’s board of directors (as well as a friend and
colleague of the Hochschilds of AMAX), was furious and demanded an
apology from Scott.®® Scott wriggled out, claiming that he respected Sir
Ronald’s “sincere conviction” but that his (Scott’s) UN testimony had pro-
vided the Rhodesian Selection Trust with the “opportunity of stating its case”
and countering the “myths and smears” that had been “promulgated in the
UN” because Western mining companies’ continued interests in “Katanga
seemed to support the allegations.”®* Kaunda, as noted, had sought to placate
those who would be among independent Zambia’s largest foreign investors,
apologizing to top officials from AMAX and the Rhodesian Selection Trust
for submitting Wolfe’s piece. When Kaunda justified his use of the piece
because there was no other reputable reporting on the mining question,
AMAX promised to provide him with a written brief outlining the “inter-
national financial relationships of the Copperbelt mining companies.”®*

58 AMAX, “Evolution of the Recent Attacks on Mining Companies Operating in Southern

Africa,” December 1962, Box 25, Armstrong Hoover Papers. This private report is an
internal AMAX document written before Armstrong worked for the company.
59 AMAX, “Evolution of the Recent Attacks.”
The Rhodesian Selection Trust was renamed the “Roan Selection Trust” in 1964 and
became a “wholly owned subsidiary” of AMAX in 1970. Alexander R. Hammer,
“Selection Trust Will Be Subsidiary of Climax under Zambia Plan,” New York Times,
March 7, 1970.
Michael Scott, undated (probably 1962) note titled “Draft-Confidential.” Box 63,
Guthrie Michael Scott Papers, Weston Library, Oxford.
F. Taylor Ostrander to Ronald L. Prain, December 5, 1962, Box 25, Armstrong Hoover
Papers. This document is AMAX correspondence before Armstrong worked for
the company.
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Eventually, Scott was able to facilitate a rapprochement with Prain,
and also between Prain, the Rhodesian Selection Trust, and Kaunda.
Scott, Kaunda, and Prain had private meetings on the future of
Northern Rhodesian/Zambian development; when Kaunda visited
London in 1963, he had at least four meetings with Prain, who offered
to act as “an intermediary” between Kaunda and “the Rockefeller
Foundation’s offer” to give development assistance to soon-to-be inde-
pendent Zambia.®?> The Kaunda-Scott-Prain-Rockefeller Foundation link-
age shows the significant influence and benefits of advocacy in action.
Scott and Prain played crucial roles connecting Kaunda to US develop-
mental assistance when Zambia was still a state-in-waiting; Scott vouched
for Kaunda to Prain, Prain vouched for Kaunda to the Rockefeller
Foundation, and doors that might otherwise have been closed to an
anticolonial nationalist leader were opened. Strategically, Kaunda and
Scott publicly distanced themselves from Western mining companies
while working closely with them in private.

Scott’s “interlocking directorates” comment became a repeated phrase
for Southern African nationalists and their advocates at the UN. The big
mining multinationals in the Copperbelt in the early 1960s were Union
Miniére, AMAX, Prain’s Rhodesian Selection Trust (eventually a subsid-
iary of AMAX), and Anglo-American. They had a number of subsidiaries
that they did not operate but in which they held shares; shareholders from
each mining multinational sat on the others’ boards, lending credence to
Scott’s allegations.

In Northern Rhodesia, Prain’s Rhodesian Selection Trust (of which
AMAX held controlling shares) had implemented a developmentalist
approach toward its Black African workforce since the Second World
War. Rhodesian Selection Trust had loaned millions of pounds to the
Northern Rhodesian and Nyasaland colonial governments with the stipu-
lation that the funds be spent in regions where they recruited their Black
African labor.®* The company also broke the color bar, working to
desegregate high-skilled jobs previously monopolized by white workers,
an effort that those workers strongly opposed.®S Prain’s early adoption of
antiracist policies deserves recognition, but it was also linked to the profit

3 Ronald Prain to Michael Scott, April 4, 1963, Box 66, GMS Papers.

64 L. J. Butler, “Business and British Decolonisation: Sir Ronald Prain, the Mining Industry
and the Central African Federation,” Journal of Imperial and Commonwealth History
35, N0. 3 (2007): 465.

S Duncan Money, “The World of European Labor on the Northern Rhodesian
Copperbelt,” International Review of Social History 20 (2015): 238.

https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009305815.008 Published online by Cambridge University Press


https://doi.org/10.1017/9781009305815.008

134 International Advocacy

motive. He believed that opening high-skilled positions to Black Africans
would lower wages for all workers.®®

The Hochschilds of AMAX supported Prain’s education and training
programs, which they thought would improve the quality and efficiency
of their Black African labor force and simultaneously undercut the poten-
tial of nationalist agitation.®” By the early 1960s, both Prain and the
Hochschilds had a decade-long commitment to liberal, antiracist devel-
opment in their Copperbelt mines, a commitment that also served their
own economic interests. Black African technicians could be paid less than
white ones, and peaceful regime change from colony to independent state
allowed for continuity of mining operations. For these reasons, in their
view, Kaunda’s platform of nonviolence and multiracialism made him an
attractive leader of a postcolonial state. His embrace of a decolonization
process that worked with, rather than against, Western economic inter-
ests was even more valuable to his international backers when contrasted
to the violence and expense of the UN’s military intervention in Katanga.
The decimation of Union Miniére’s reputation due to that company’s
backing of Katanga’s secession from Congo led AMAX to take strong
measures to distinguish itself from the other Copperbelt corporations.

While AMAX attempted to differentiate itself from various other
Southern African mining operations in order to minimize international
perception of its involvement in contentious global hot spots, the World
Peace Brigade worked to knit together its advocacy against Katanga’s
secession, South African rule of South West Africa, apartheid in South
Africa, and colonialism across southern Africa. The Brigade’s protest at
the South African consulate in New York City in October 1962, head-
lined by Bayard Rustin, Scott, and other members of the Brigade commu-
nity, explicitly combined these issues.®® This “bundling” was tactical: to
gather as many supporters as possible to its cause by expanding its scope.

In his 1962 testimony to the UN Special Committee of 17, Michael
Scott warned about greater looming issues instigated by the spectre of
Katanga, which illustrated “what waste, destruction and suffering could

¢ Ronald Prain to Harold K. Hochschild, April 26, 1950, Ronald Prain Papers, American
Heritage Center, University of Wyoming, cited in Butler, “Business and British
Decolonisation,” 461.

7 Harold K. Hochschild to Ronald Prain, September 6, 1955, Prain Papers, cited in Butler,
“Business and British Decolonisation,” 465.

8 Poster, the World Peace Brigade, October 22, 1962, Winifred Courtney Papers, African
Activist Archive, Michigan State University. Available at https://africanactivist.msu.edu/
document_metadata.php?objectid=210-808-7873.
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be caused by political breakdowns and the failure to find adequate consti-
tutional means of solving problems of conflicting interests and national
ambitions. ... Resistance to injustice, tyranny and deprivation of rights
was part of the struggle for peace,” since violence in Central and Southern
Africa would lead to “the power struggle between the so-called East and
West.”® Scott used the threat of violence and Cold War conflict to try to get
the UN to act. His motto: Violence will take over where law founded on
justice ends. He blamed extra-legal violence against Kenneth Kaunda’s
United National Independence Party (in Zambia) on “criminals from
Katanga” allied with the settler-colonial government of the Central African
Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland.” In Scott’s formulation, Kaunda’s
nonviolent resistance to oppression would lead to a racially representative
government, peacefully achieved; whereas, the counterrevolutionary nation-
alism of Moise Tshombe in Katanga and of the white-settler colony of
Rhodesia would undermine Kaunda’s political ascendency and the challenge
that ascendency would pose to their power in the region.

FEDERATION THINKING AND THE COLD WAR TRAP

Regional dynamics engulfed the Congo Crisis.”* Katanga bordered the
Central African Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland (1953-1963),
whose breakup seemed imminent in the early 1960s. The Central
African Federation was a British effort to find a halfway solution between
empire and national independence in Southern Africa.”* This attempted
compromise faltered between the competing demands of African nation-
alists and of settler-colonials for self-rule. Kenneth Kaunda of Northern
Rhodesia was a leader in the nationalist effort, supported by the World
Peace Brigade, for an independent Zambia; simultaneously, Moise
Tshombe of Katanga, and Roy Welensky of Southern Rhodesia were in
talks to forge a Copperbelt state on the bones of the Federation.”?> While
sharing geographic contiguity, a degree of overlapping ethnic groups, and

% Scott, Special Committee of 17 to Monitor the Declaration on the Granting of

Independence, 173, BB/og91, National Archives of Namibia.

Scott, Special Committee of 17 to Monitor the Declaration, 173.

7' Lazlo Passemiers, Decolonisation and Regional Geopolitics: South Africa and the
“Congo Crisis,” 1960-1965 (London: Routledge, 2019).

7* Ismay Milford, “Federation, Partnership, and the Chronologies of Space in 1950s East
and Central Africa,” Historical Journal 63, no. 2 (2020): 1325-8.

73 George Ivan Smith to David Owen, Report on Nyasaland and Rhodesia, p. 5, June 1,
1962, Box 125, Cordier Papers.
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copper mines, Northern Rhodesia/Zambia was considered the site of a
legitimate nationalist movement while Katanga was a neocolonial front
for a Western mining company.

The UN’s Declaration on the Granting of Independence, which sought
to establish an international norm of national self-determination, coin-
cided in time with proposals for regional federations throughout the
decolonizing world — and might seem to be in opposition to such pro-
posals.”* At first glance, some of these proposals for federation (including
that which became the Organization of African Unity) appeared as if they
might challenge the unitary sovereignty of states. However, in political
practice the federations that came into existence were institutional frame-
works that focused on protecting the sovereignty of their members rather
than expanding their own federated power structures.”> Rather than
offering an alternative to the postcolonial state, the federations that came
into existence ended up as vehicles for those states to project greater
international influence. Perhaps, instead of providing an expansive polit-
ical vision beyond the shape (and limits) of the state, proposed feder-
ations — even the short-lived postcolonial ones such as the United Arab
Republic (1958-1961) or the West Indian Federation (1958-1962) — were
demonstrations of affinity between separate polities rather than structures
of overarching unity surrounding them.

The Central African Federation, a colonial rather than postcolonial
political structure, rarely features in these conversations about feder-
ations. It proposed a political possibility — of allegedly multiracial, shared
government as a halfway measure between empire and independence —
and then reversed its initial mission by dissolving into territorially bound,
racially determined states. Discussing the probable demise of the Central
African Federation, the Soviet representative on the UN Special
Committee of 17 brought up the alleged secret talks between Tshombe
of Katanga and Roy Welensky (prime minister of the Central African
Federation) on “the union of Katanga with Northern Rhodesia.”
According to the Soviets, Antonio de Oliveira Salazar, prime minister
and de facto dictator of Portugal, was also in talks with Welensky about
“the establishment of a confederation between the CAF and the
Portuguese colonies in Africa. It was their hope that that confederation,
[with the] close cooperation of the Republic of South Africa ... would

74+ Adom Getachew, Worldmaking after Empire: The Rise and Fall of Self-Determination
(Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2019), 107.
75 Getachew, Worldmaking after Empire, 141.
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make it possible to maintain white domination” in Central and Southern
Africa.””® This white confederacy would be “backed by enormous eco-
nomic and political forces,” since Northern Rhodesia’s copper produc-
tion was in the hands of Anglo-American Corporation and of AMAX,
who, according to the Soviets, wanted easier access to
Katanga’s copper.””

In November 1962, Jacob Kuhangua, a Namibian nationalist and
member of the South West African People’s Organization (SWAPO),
had just returned from Congo-Léopoldville, where he had met with
Angolan nationalists. In testimony before the UN’s Special Committee
of 17, Kuhangua said that SWAPO and the National Liberation Front of
Angola “intended to announce to the international community their
intention of forming in the future a Federation of the Independent States
of Angola, Bechuanaland [which became independent Botswana in 1966]
and South West Africa.””® Their “intention to announce” a proposed
federation to an international audience was more important than any
actual plans for a federation. Similarly, whether or not Welensky and
Tshombe had any realistic plans to federate a Copperbelt state was less
important than their announced plans to do so — because such plans
indicated their rejection of the colonial geopolitical and territorial defin-
itions of Congo-Léopoldville and Northern Rhodesia (independent
Zambia in 1964). In the same way, from the other end of the political
spectrum, Kuhangua’s intent to form a Namibian-Angolan federation
indicated a similar rejection of colonial borders and state structures.”®
These announced plans for federations remained deliberately vague. They
were tools for demonstrating alliance and affinity rather than sustained
attempts to redraw political units.

The Congo Crisis showed leaders of new postcolonial states the threat
to their own fragile sovereignty posed by competing nationalist move-
ments with powerful international backers (such as Katanga).
As demonstrated throughout the crisis, decolonization struggles could
easily take on a Cold War character in a manner that had little to do
with the Cold War or the global-political stance of particular nationalist
organizations. In addition, nationalist claimants were not simply acted

7¢ Jacob Kuhangua testimony to Special Committee of 17 to monitor the Declaration on the
Granting of Independence, p. 187, BB/og91, National Archives of Namibia (NAN).

77 Kuhangua to Special Committee of 17, p. 188, BB/oggr, NAN.

78 Kuhangua to Special Committee of 17, p. 442, BB/ogg1, NAN. Italics added.

79 Getachew, Worldmaking after Empire, p. 141.
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upon by the Great Powers; they also played “the Cold War game.” In that
“game,” for instance, Michel Streulens (Tshombe’s Belgian press agent in
New York City), playing off residual McCarthyism,*® lobbied US legisla-
tors to label both the UN and Patrice Lumumba, the democratically
elected leader of Congo, as communist fronts. As noted, Kaunda made
nice with all. While conciliating the Soviets by calling out the activities of
Western corporations, he also made private agreements with the same
corporations. In the words of a contemporary commentator, African
nationalists “were attempting to do something more or less in this time
frame the Indian government was failing at — and that is[,] not to be either
partisan or an agent of one or the other of the major power blocs. And if
the Indians could not do it, it’s no surprise that [they] did not do it
either.”®" Avoiding the “Cold War trap” confounded not just Indians
or Africans; it confounded the UN institution as well.

Advocates of nationalist claimants were also not immune from Cold
War thinking. Michael Scott’s strategic formulation during the 1962 UN
hearings before the Special Committee of 17 relied on the threat of Cold
War intervention: If the UN did not handle the problems of political
injustice in the decolonizing world, then nationalist movements would
become violent; if they became violent, then they would invite First
World-Second World proxy wars in the Third World. This relationship
between the Cold War, decolonization, and the role of the United Nations
underscored how the Cold War endangered the United Nations’ ability to
function as it was intended to and, thereby, to justify its own role in
handing questions of international war and peace.

After the Second World War, UN intervention in Congo as well as
wider patterns of decolonization took place within the possibilities of
action prescribed by the Cold War framework — whether the parties
involved liked it or not, tried to break away from it or not, or were aware
of it or not. While the Cold War political straitjacket provided the
opportunity for the UN to take the leadership role in Congo, UN officials
understood how it also limited what the UN could do. As early as July 23,
1960 — twelve days after Katanga declared independence from just-
liberated Congo-Léopoldville - UN  secretary general Dag

8¢ In the 1950s, US senator Joe McCarthy sparked an era of paranoia known as
“McCarthyism,” or the “red scare,” by claiming that communists had infiltrated the
US government.

81 Transcript from 2004 Wilson Center Congo Crisis Workshop, Herbert Weiss, p. 83.
(Hereafter, cited as “Transcript, Speaker, page number.”)
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Hammarskjold cabled, “If the Cold War settles on the Congo, our whole
effort is lost.”®*

How, then, do we conceptualize decolonization outside a Cold War
frame? A better way to “frame” the question might be: How were the
people actively involved in the process of decolonization thinking about it
at the time? Nationalists and their advocates had their own interests and
goals even as they were enmeshed in Cold War politics. While the US
foreign policy establishment and its intelligence operatives knew very little
about politics in Congo before 1960, they knew a lot about the inter-
national webs of missionaries and business interests in the region.®> The
UN special envoy to Katanga Conor Cruise O’Brien, amusingly detailed
how the US would lobby Ireland within the General Assembly on “colo-
nial” issues by “producling] a sensible, relevant missionary (Roman
Catholic) if available and if vote of sufficient importance.”®* O’Brien’s
remark hints at the interplay of multiple international networks — of
missionaries, activists, and scholars; but also of business interests, of
diaspora populations (sometimes created by decolonization), and eventu-
ally of development assistance experts. These were networks that the
nationalists themselves mobilized to access power; networks that shaped
and often constrained nationalist movements because they — the networks
themselves — served multiple interests.

CONCLUSION

Networks of nationalist claimants and their advocates operated behind
the scenes through personal connections even as they performed in public
on the floor of the United Nations. As noted, Michael Scott introduced
Kenneth Kaunda to Ronald Prain of the Rhodesian Selection Trust, who
in turn brought Kaunda to the attention of the Rockefeller Foundation, a
process that reinforced Kaunda’s transition from nationalist to national
leader. In this way, Kaunda used advocates to develop and enhance his
status with global powers and business interests before he became inde-
pendent Zambia’s first president. In another example, Winifred
Armstrong lobbied on behalf of Mburumba Kerina of South West
Africa when she worked for then US senator John F. Kennedy. She helped

82 Quoted in Brian Urquhart, Ralph Bunche, 334.

85 Transcript, Devlin, p. 23. Union Miniére helped the US build the atomic bomb; and the
US often used international missionaries as lobbyists within the UN General Assembly.

84 O’Brien, To Katanga and Back, 19. Italics in original.
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regularize Kerina’s visa status in the US so that he could attend the Second
Afro-Asian People’s Conference in Tunis in January 1960, aiding the
development of his international profile as a Namibian nationalist claim-
ant.®s Networks of nationalists and their advocates were multiple, multi-
directional, and overlapping: when Kerina asked Armstrong to urge
Kennedy “to meet privately with the Union Government [of South
Africa]” about the possibility of making South West Africa a UN Trust
Territory, he reminded her to send written corroboration of his inter-
national petitioning to other Namibian nationalist claimants.®® Kerina’s
petitioning worked in two different directions: from Armstrong to
Kennedy to Christian Herter (US secretary of state, 1959-19671),*” and
through Armstrong to leaders of rival Namibian nationalist formations.
As connectors between spheres of Great Power politics, multinational
corporations, and international institutions, advocates formed bridges of
continuity between empire and independence during the moments when
decolonization promised to reorder international relations. Both
Tshombe’s and Kaunda’s international advocates worked to legitimize
these nationalists (and thus their claims) in international politics by
stressing their “civilizational” similarities with Western norms of
respectable leadership.®® Nationalist leaders made use of the prestige
and connections of advocates who worked behind the scenes, maneuver-
ing within the international-legal interstices of the United Nations insti-
tution. These interested individuals and organizations disaggregated Cold
War binaries at the same time that they served Cold War projects,
forming the strands of informal communication during moments of pos-
sible rupture. When formal modes of continuity — of capital, development,
and state-to-state diplomacy — reasserted themselves in new, postcolonial
states, these advocates, these unofficial politicians, dropped away. They
were useful gatekeepers for advancing nationalist leaders in the realm of

85 John Kennedy to JM Swing, Commissioner, Immigration and Naturalization Service
(drafted by Armstrong), January 15, 1960, Box 3, Winifred Armstrong Papers,
Schomburg Center for Black Culture, New York City.

8¢ Including Sam Nujoma, Andimba Toivo ya Toivo, as well as the Herero and Nama
chiefs. Mburumba Kerina to Winifred Armstrong, December 21, 1959, Box 3, Armstrong
Schomburg Center Papers.

87 John Kennedy to Christian Herter, letter (drafted by Armstrong), undated, probably
January 1960, Box 3, Armstrong Schomburg Center Papers.

88 These notions of respectable leadership also held for how Soviets chose to back particular
nationalist leaders; Andrew Ivaska, “Leveraging Alternatives: Early FRELIMO, the
Soviet Union, and the Infrastructure of African Political Exile,” Comparative Studies of
South Asia, Africa and the Middle East 41, no. 1 (2021): T1-26.
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international politics and support, but their activities were incompatible
with the sovereignty of the national leaders who came to lead
independent states.

Nationalist movements generally condensed their state-making aspir-
ations to align with colonial boundaries. With important exceptions, such
as Bangladesh, secessionist insurgent movements that would have revised
colonial borders tended to fail. Kwame Nkrumah (president of Ghana
and a founding member of the Organization of African Unity) and Julius
Nyerere (prime minister of Tanganyika and president of Tanzania, its
successor state) looked to a United States of Africa rather than to a United
States of Ghana or Tanzania.®® They — as well as Moise Tshombe of
Katanga and Roy Welensky of the Central African Federation of
Rhodesia and Nyasaland, with their imagined federated Copperbelt state;
or Jacob Kuhangua of SWAPO with his proposed Namibia-Botswana-
Angola amalgamation - called for forms of African federation, not feder-
ated power structures within their respective states and states-in-waiting.

Katanga’s secession raised a three-headed spectre: of illegitimate
nationalism, of decolonization’s potential failure, and of the challenge
of “sub”-nationalisms to the emergent postcolonial international order of
the expanding membership of the UN General Assembly. At a practical
level, from the perspective of the UN, Katanga’s secession sabotaged the
hope of a functional, democratic, independent Congo — and of the UN’s
playing a key role in midwifing that creation.’® In addition, Katanga’s
secession called newly nationalized state boundaries into question, there-
for raising the prospect of international intervention — by the UN, multi-
national corporations, and Cold War actors — to police those boundaries.
These interventions operated beyond Congo’s geographic limits and had
an immediate impact on the wider financial concerns and political spheres
in which Katanga was embedded: on the arcs of international investment,
resource extraction, and controlled labor mobility surrounding mining in
contiguous regions of Southern and Central Africa.”*

For the United Nations — attempting to position itself as the arbitrator
of legitimate national self-determination — Katanga represented the

89 Kwame Nkrumah, Africa Must Unite (London: Heinemann, 1963); Julius K. Nyerere, “A
United States of Africa,” Journal of Modern African Studies 1, no. 1 (1963): 1-6.

¢ Brian Urquhart, “Mobutu and Tshombe: Two Congolese Rogues” (undated), Character
Sketches: UN News Centre. Available at https:/news.un.org/en/spotlight/character-
sketches-joseph-mobutu-moise-tshombe-brian-urquhart.

9! David Gibbs, The Political Economy of Third World Intervention: Mines, Money, and
U.S. Policy in the Congo Crisis (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1991).
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tarnishing of decolonization’s promise at the moment of the process’s
seeming greatest possibility. For that reason, anticolonial nationalist
claimants and their advocates would not have wanted their efforts labeled
under any title that included the name “Katanga.”®* The spectre of
Katanga created a sense of revulsion and fear for proponents of antic-
olonial nationalist liberation because it rendered alternative postcolonial
political possibilities both less feasible and less desirable — potentially the
thin end of the wedge of neocolonialism.

°* Winifred Armstrong interview with author, February 4, 2018.
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